1957

Keith L. Knight v. Ross H. Chamberlain : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the plaintiff from a ruling of the District Court of the Third Judicial District, sustaining the defendant's motion to dismiss the complaint, made at the close of the plaintiff's evidence. The motion to dismiss was "for reasons indicated in the answer. Our Code, Section 25-5-4, subdivision 5, provides as follows: * * * 'In the following cases every agreement shall be void unless such agreement or some note or memorandum thereof is in writing, subscribed

by the party to be charged therewith: every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation.' "

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Most of the transcript of testimony is devoted to the testimony of the plaintiff himself. Mr. Knight testified that he is a realtor "engaged in the pursuit of buying, selling, leasing and optioning for others" and has been engaged in that business for 15 years, and a licensed broker for 12 years (Tr. 11 and 12). He had specialized in the matter of land development and subdividing (Tr. 12). He met the defendant through a business associate and proceeded that very day to take an airplane ride over and around Salt Lake County to inspect various prospective areas for subdivision development on a large scale (Tr. 13). The defendant specified that he must have a minimum of 500 acres to be optioned and preferably 1000 acres (Tr. 14). The defendant "wanted to know about water, and sewage, and as I recall, the matter of arterial highways, his relative position to areas of employment, the convenience of getting to it, the school district arrangement, all of those miscellaneous and salient details beyond the point of location." (Tr. 16). After the airplane trip the defendant showed the plaintiff his method of operation, including his control sheets and financing schedules (Tr. 17).

After an explanation that he felt he could bring this type of operation to Salt Lake City and be successful with it, he said, "Keith, I'll be glad to pay you for your services in attempting to package up * * * " (interrupted by objection).

"Well, Mr. Chamberlain said that he was desirous of my going ahead and lining up some options." (Tr. 18). "Mr. Chamberlain stated to me, he said, 'Keith, as we progress on this program', or words to this effect, 'I will be glad to pay you for your services.' It was upon the strength and integrity of that statement—(interrupted by objection" (Tr. 19).

A further trip by motor car was taken the next day to inspect the various areas seen from the air during which "I felt enthused about the possibilities of packaging up the type of acreage that Mr. Chamberlain wanted because he showed a very definite interest in these areas. I told him it was customary on the part of realtors that in the event we could get our options exercised, that we would look to the sellers for the payment of our commissions. I told Mr. Chamberlain that he would have no obligation for payment of my services, if I could exercise the option." And Mr. Chamberlain promised to send to the plaintiff the form of option he would like to use (Hr. 22).

The type of option in use by the defendant involved "around \$25.00 down and \$25.00 per acre year year rental value" (Tr. 24). There was never any money made available by the defendant for deposits on options (Tr. 25).

Between August 26, 1955, and November 14, 1955, when the plaintiff saw the defendant for the second time, the plaintiff obtained the maps and identified the areas he would be working on (Tr. 20). He also went to the Chamber of Commerce and assembled the data that was required, including pamphlets, trade data and other pertinent details (Tr. 30). The option form used by the defendant come about August 31st and is

marked Exhibit 2 (Tr. 30). The plaintiff then got ownership plats and proceeded to make personal contacts to determine whether the various owners would sell under option and discuss the form of the option with the various owners (Tr. 32). He made no offers supported by consideration. "That was part of the difficulty of the program" and his effort was to obtain signatures of the owners, to be submitted to Mr. Chamberlain when he should next come to town, and actually paid no money, not even the \$1.00 nominal consideration recited (Tr. 33). He was unable to get anyone interested in signing the defendant's option form and had no authority to modify it (Tr. 34).

A group of owners was represented by Mr. Elias Day, an attorney, who told the plaintiff that "this option will never work. We will have to talk a more positive arrangement on the purchase of the contract." To which plaintiff replied that he would like Mr. Day to get "the best type of deal and send it back so I can submit it to my client" (Tr. 36).

Mr. Chamberlain came to Salt Lake again on November 14th (Tr. 43) and the parties spent considerable time together during that visit, including inspection of all of the areas where the plaintiff had been working (Tr. 45-46).

The plaintiff informed the defendant that the activity of the Boeing people had had a tremendous impact on interpretation of values in the county and was making plaintiff's task more difficult, and told the defendant that it would take \$150,000.00 and \$25,000.00 a year to handle a 1000 acre tract (Tr. 47). And with reference to another parcel of 1000 acres the defendant said: "By all means we should definitely

option that." And as the defendant was about to leave, he said, "Knight, you go back over those areas. You bring me down some signed options, or earnest money receipts. I will spend \$15,000.00 cash and \$25,000.00 a year with you. And then you bring them to Sacramento with you and I want you to come down and look over our type of operations, so you can get a feel of how we will go into Salt Lake and as rapidly as you can put that together, you let me know and you fly down and bring them with you." But no cash was made available for option money (Tr. 48) and there was no discussion as to the form upon which the plaintiff would endeavor to obtain options (Tr. 49).

Thereupon the plaintiff proceeded "to accumulate that area" in the Dimple Dell vicinity, near Draper, Utah, and attempted to use the Intermountain Development Co. as the source of a master option, which would be supported by sub-options in favor of the Intermountain Development Co. (Tr. 72) on the assumption that \$150,000.00 down would be available. In another area he was unable to get an option or any other oral indication within the terms of Mr. Chamberlain's statement "they would sell but they wanted a cash consideration" (Tr. 75). He attempted to obtain a commitment from the Winn family, which wanted \$2,000 per acre "they weren't willing to enter into an option agreement whose performance was subject to the potential buyer's performance. They wanted a firm contract."

On November 29th, plaintiff went to Sacramento to contact the defendant and took with him such options as he had been able to obtain, such as Exhibit 7 (Tr. 77-78). By that time

it appeared that the Boeing option was not being exercised and this was discussed in passing (Tr. 78-79). The plaintiff exhibited the documents he had obtained with the signatures and after a conference out of the office the defendant returned, threw them on the desk and said they weren't acceptable (Tr. 82).

Prior to leaving, on November 29, the plaintiff said to the defendant: "Are you through with my services?" and the defendant replied: "Why don't you go back home and see what you can do about the Boeing program and see how you can line up 1000 acres on that portion of the tract that Boeing did not exercise" (Tr. 83).

The options referred to \$10.00 consideration but nothing was paid (Tr. 87). If the options contained in Exhibit 7 had been exercised, the defendant would not have been required to pay the plaintiff any compensation, as he would have been paid by the sellers (Tr. 85). These commissions would have been based on written agreements (Tr. 85).

It was the plaintiff's understanding that he was to be paid for his services whether or not he was successful in completing the defendant's program (Tr. 134 and Tr. 138, 139).

Mr. F. Orrin Woodbury testified in behalf of the plaintiff that he was experienced in commercial and industrial developments in Salt Lake City (Tr. 54), that he had a great deal of respect for the plaintiff in both his aggressiveness and ability to get a job done and intuition about doing the job or finding the job to do (Tr. 55). It is customary in Salt Lake City and under the Salt Lake Real Estate Board to obtain options for

would-be purchasers and to obtain commission based on the price paid if the options are taken up, and upon agreed compensation if they aren't taken up (Tr. 56). Rule XVI (a) and (b) of Exhibit 5 indicate the expression of the Salt Lake Real Estate Board on this matter. Unless a prospective purchaser deposits funds with which to pay for options, he refuses to work for such purchaser (Tr. 63).

The defendant called Joseph Lacey as his witness, out of order, which testimony was not transcribed in view of the granting of the motion at the close of plaintiff's evidence (Tr. 111).

Exhibit 2 was sent to the plaintiff by the defendant as being the type of option agreement the defendant wanted to use in Utah (Tr. 24, 25, 30). It is entitled an "option agreement" and calls for a down payment of \$25.00 per acre, and permits keeping the option alive for five years by paying an additional \$25.00 per acre each year.

Exhibit 3 contains some of the correspondence between the parties. The letter dated September 2, 1955 includes this paragraph:

"This is to advise that I am in the process of running down the owners of the parcels you indicated a greater interest in. As of this writing, I have not been as successful as I might have been, but feel, within the next week or ten days, I'll be able to give you something specific to pass upon."

A letter of September 26, 1955, from the defendant to the plaintiff includes this paragraph:

"In the meantime I think that we would be willing to enter into an option agreement on any of the prop-

erties you describe in your letter. If you are able to get any of them put together, do so, and if Mr. McCullough concurs, we will execute them when we are in Salt Lake City."

The letter of October 12, 1955, from the plaintiff to the defendant includes the following:

"Not having heard from you since your letter of September 26th that indicated you would be willing to enter into some of the options on the land that I have tentatively committed, and in which letter you suggested you might come into Salt Lake, meeting Mr. McCullough here, this is to advise that I have been awaiting your arrival to go over the numbers of parcels of lands that have been assembled for your consideration. * * * All of our parcels are definitely available, however, on that approach if we can commit the cash purchase of the first 40 acres in each instance. * * * I feel that I probably have rendered about as much of a service as I can contemplate at the present moment, until such time as I hear from you, preferably your dropping into Salt Lake at your convenience."

Exhibit 6 is a letter from the plaintiff to the defendant and concludes with this sentence:

"I am eager to complete my services to you to the best of my ability."

Exhibit 7 is entitled a "Contract and Option", but an examination of it indicates that it is not an option, but a contract of sale, reciting consideration of \$10.00 and calling for definite commitments of both parties to the purchase and sale through periodic installments. These documents were signed only by the seller and were taken by the plaintiff to the defendant in Sacramento, where the defendant stated: "these aren't acceptable" (Tr. 82).

Exhibit 8 consists of further correspondence between the parties and includes a letter from the plaintiff to the defendant dated December 9, 1955, which includes the two following paragraphs:

“This is to advise you that I am very appreciative for your check in the amount of \$90.50. I have taken the liberty of depositing the check, even though this amount was in excess \$13.61 of my actual cost of the round-trip air plane ticket to Sacramento. However, I am crediting this difference to Mr. Chamberlain’s account with me for other expenses and services rendered in his employment of my services here in Salt Lake Valley.

I have hesitated billing Mr. Chamberlain, in light of the fact that in the event we are able to transact any business with him on which I would be paid a selling commission, that would automatically pay for my services by virtue of the commissions that would be involved in any transactions consummated with him.”

The trial court made its ruling, granting the motion to dismiss, on the ground that Knight had been employed to obtain options for the purchase of real estate and that these must be in writing, as held by the California court (in *Pacific South West Development Corp. vs. Western Pacific Railroad Co.*, 321 Pac. 2d 825) (Tr. 152). The court apparently relied also in part on the concurring opinion of Justice Wade in *Andersen vs. Johnson*, 108 Utah 417, 160 Pac. 2d 725, wherein Justice Wade is supposed to reason that anyone who assists or contributes to dealing in or the purchase or sale of real estate, must have a broker’s license and, likewise, must see that the record of his employment is in writing (Tr. 150).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

Whether this decision is sound, may be considered and tested from consideration of three propositions:

1. Employment of services to be paid for in the event there is no sale need not be in writing.
2. Employment of a broker to obtain offers to sell real estate is not within the statute of frauds.
3. Employment to obtain opinions to buy lands is not within the statute of frauds. (This appears to be the question as the trial court saw the case.)

ARGUMENT

1. *Employment of services to be paid for in the event there is no sale need not be in writing.*

The employment contract here was in the alternative, depending on whether a sale was consummated. Mr. Knight testified that Mr. Chamberlain engaged his services to attempt to package lands in Salt Lake Valley and said he would be glad to pay for his services as they progressed on the program (Tr. 18, 19). On the next day plaintiff advised the defendant that if the options could be exercised and a transaction consummated, the plaintiff would look to the sellers of the land for his commissions and would not hold the defendant in that event (Tr. 22). And this agreement was plainly stated in the letter of December 9, 1955, contained in Exhibit 8.

It may, therefore, be fairly said that the agreement between the parties was that the defendant would employ the plaintiff

to work on the assembling of tracts of land in Salt Lake County, and would pay for his services in so doing, but it was agreed by the plaintiff, that in the event any lands were purchased by the defendant, the plaintiff's commission would be derived from the sellers of the land and not from the defendant. This then is not an agreement for compensation for the purchase or sale of real estate, but an agreement that no compensation need be paid by the defendant in the event there is a purchase or sale of real estate. The latter contingency was covered by written agreements with the owners of lands (Tr. 85) as the statute of frauds contemplates.

The appellant concedes that an action in quantum meruit is not available to a broker who is employed to purchase or sell real estate, where he fails to put the agreement in writing, as in *Baugh vs. Darley*, 112 Utah 1, 184 P. 2d 355. Appellant has no quarrel whatever with that decision.

But where the employment is to render services connected with land and not for the purchase or sale of land, a recovery for the reasonable value of services can be had, even though there is no memorandum in writing.

In *Andersen vs. Johnson*, 108 Utah 417, 160 P. 2d 725, 729, the plaintiff brought an action against a real estate broker pursuant to an oral agreement that the plaintiff could have one-third of the defendant's commissions on properties listed by the defendant with the help of the plaintiff. The court disposed of the defendant's claim that the statute of frauds barred recovery by holding: "the contention of respondent that plaintiff cannot recover because his agreement was oral, is untenable. The contract was one of employment and not involving any

right or interest in land. See *Johnson vs. Allan*, Utah 1945, 158 P. 2d 134. The proposition that a contract for fee or commission may be recovered by agent from broker, though not in writing, is upheld in *Arbuckle vs. Clifford F. Reed*, 118 Cal. App. 272, 4 P. 2d 978, (and other cases)."

A case of value on this point is *Clark vs. Opp*, 156 Ore. 197, 66 P. 2d 1179. At page 1180 the court thus stated the question:

"The propriety of the court's instructions upon the subjects of agency and ratification is also challenged.

In paragraph IV of his complaint, plaintiff alleges: "That on or about the 1st day of May, 1931, it was agreed by and between the plaintiff and the defendants that if the plaintiff would go upon said mining property, tunnel, timber and develop the said property and expose and sample the ore bodies thereon so that the same could be advantageously exhibited to one John M. Price, a prospective lessee, and would show said property to said prospective lessee, the defendants would pay unto the plaintiff ten per cent of any and all royalties which they might receive from any lease of said premises made by the defendants with said John M. Price, until the sum of \$10,000.00 had been paid plaintiff."

The court easily disposed of this question under the Statute of Frauds as follows:

"The distinction between a contract for the services of a real estate broker or agent and the contract alleged in plaintiff's complaint, as herein above set out, is recognized in the following cases: *Bates v. Oregon-American Lumber Company* (D. C.) 285 F. 666; *Hall v. Rankin*, 22 Ariz. 13, 193 P. 756; *Wilson v. Morton*, 85 Cal. 598, 24 P. 784; *Sherman v. Clear View Orchard Co.*, 74 Or. 240, 145 P. 264."

Another such case is *Hall v. Rankin*, 22 Ariz. 13, 193 P. 756 and 757. There the oral agreement was as follows:

'I have been trying to sell the Henrietta mine to the Big Ledge people, but the mine must stand the inspection of Mr. Shockey, their engineer. I have had a 'racket' with him and I canont get them to go out and look over the property. You know these people, and I want you to get their engineer on the ground, and if I get \$150,000 for it I will pay you \$25,000 for your services, and if I sell it for less I will pay you very liberally, and in any event I will pay you for your trouble and expense.'

The court thus reasoned this portion of that case:

"We construe the contract as one of employment or agency rather than one to "sell real estate, mines or other property, for compensation or commission", Statute of Frauds, paragraph 3272, subdiv. 7, Rev. Stat. Ariz. 1913, as amended by chapter 135, Session Laws Ariz. 1919. We would not be justified in straining the terms of the contract so as to bring it within the statute of frauds and thus do a great injustice to the plaintiff. It is a familiar canon of construction to construe a contract, if it may consistently be done, to be effective, rtaher than ineffective. 'Where a * * * contract as a whole is susceptible of two meanings, one of which will uphold the contract or render it valid and the other of which will destroy it or render it invalid, the former will be adopted so as to uphold the contract.' 13 C.J. 539; *Hobbs v. McLean*, 117 U. S. 567, 6 Sup. Ct. 870, 29 L. Ed. 940. The statute of frauds, of course, is binding upon us and must be obeyed and enforced whenever a case falls within its provisions, but it was remarked by Chief Justice Buchanan in delivering the opinion in *Lamborn v. Watson*, 6 Har. & J. (Md.) 255, 14 Am. Dec. 275, where the defense under the statute was successfully relied on, for the protection

of a dishonest defendant, that the statute "probably generates as many frauds as it prevents." The subdivision of the statute referred to was clearly designed to protect owners of real estate against unfounded claims of brokers (*Gorham v. Heiman*, 90 Cal. 346, 27 Pac. 289) and contemplates a transaction between parties contracting with each other as principals."

This case also involves the interesting point that the commission being sued for was not commission or compensation within the statute, but the reasonable value of services. The court held: "the suit is not one to recover 'compensation' or 'commission' for the sale of real estate, but to recover the reasonable value of the services of the plaintiff as the agent of the defendant." The Arizona statute apparently related to either "compensation" or "commission."

The Utah Statute of Frauds relates only to employment of agents "for compensation." In line with the Arizona case this word could reasonably be limited to a fixed percentage of a sale price and not applicable at all to an action for reasonable value of services.

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