1957

Keith L. Knight v. Ross H. Chamberlain : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE NATURE OF THE SERVICE AND FOR WHOM IT IS RENDERED DETERMINE WHETHER OR NOT A CONTRACT EMPLOYING A REAL ESTATE BROKER COMES WITHIN THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

The appellant contends that the employment of services to be paid for in the event there is not a sale need not be in writing and maintains that the agreement in question was not an agreement for compensation for the purchase or sale of real estate, but an agreement that no compensation need be paid in the event a purchase or sale is consummated. Appellant concedes that an action in quantum meruit is not available to a broker who is employed to purchase or sell real estate where he fails to put the agreement in writing, but he maintains that where the employment is to render services *connected with land* and not for the purchase or

sale of land, a recovery for the reasonable value of the service can be had even though there is no memorandum in writing. [Appellant's brief, page 13]. He cites several cases to support this proposition. Respondent maintains that the nature of the broker's service and for whom it is rendered determines whether or not a contract employing a broker comes within the statute of frauds.

Certainly every agreement connected with land does not come within the prohibition of the statute of frauds. A review of the cases will indicate the type of agreement the statute contemplates.

The case of *Hall v. Rankin*, 22 Ariz. 13, 193 P. 756 illustrates an agreement not contemplated by the statute of frauds. In that case it was alleged the defendant entered into the following agreement with plaintiff:

“ ‘I have been trying to sell the Henrietta mine to the Big Ledge people, but the mine must stand the inspection of Mr. Shockley, their engineer. I have had a “racket” with him and I cannot get them to go out and look over the property. You know these people, and I want you to get their engineer on the ground, and if I get \$150,000 for it I will pay you \$25,000 for your services, and if I sell it for less I will pay you very liberally, and in any event I will pay you for your trouble and expense.’ ”

Appellant's brief contains a portion of the court's opinion, but does not include the following

language which is most important to clearly understand the reasoning upon which the decision was based:

“In this case the plaintiff, as agent, undertook to perform for the defendant, who was not the owner of the mine, certain services, and the defendant undertook to make compensation therefor. The plaintiff was employed to get the engineer of the Big Ledge Company—on the mine for the purpose of inspection; he was not employed to sell the mine—that was the business of the defendant. The only characteristic in the contract, indicating that the employment of the plaintiff was to sell real estate, is the stipulation that his compensation for his services should be \$25,000 if the defendant sold the mine for \$150,000, and if the mine was sold for a less amount that the plaintiff should be paid liberally. We think that this provision should be construed as fixing merely the ‘measure’ of the plaintiff’s compensation and not that it is to be considered as one of the terms of a contract for the sale of the mine.”

A similar case is the Oregon case of *Clark v. Opp*, 156 Ore. 197, 66 P. 2nd 1179. In that case the plaintiff was employed to go upon certain mining property and tunnel, timber and develop the property and to expose and sample the ore bodies so that the mine could be exhibited to a prospective lessee. In the Clark case it is evident that the plaintiff was employed not to sell the property but as indicated, to develop the property so that it could be

sold. The Clark case and the Hall case illustrate an agreement which contemplates a service not embracing the purchase or sale of real property.

It is important in examining the broker's agreement to determine whether or not the broker is dealing with another real estate broker or agent, or is dealing or contracting with a prospective purchaser or seller of real property. The California case of *Howard v. D. W. Hobson Company*, 176 P. 2nd 715 is illustrative of a fact situation involving two real estate brokers engaged in a joint venture. In that case, the plaintiff informed representatives of the defendant company that he could obtain an option to purchase property belonging to a Mrs. Moore for the sum of \$25,000.00. Representatives of the defendant company agreed with the plaintiff that if he could secure the option, defendant would endeavor to sell the land and would divide any sums in excess of the option price of \$25,000.00, received pursuant to said sale. The defendant raised the question of the statute of frauds alleging that the employment agreement was oral. The court stated:

“That we may go further and hold that even if it were necessary to concede that the agreement in question in effect involved the employment of the plaintiff to purchase the Moore property for the defendant, still, since said agreement was between real estate brokers and not between a broker and the owner

of land, it was not necessary to make it valid that it should have conformed to the formalities prescribed by subdivision 6 of Section 1624 of the Civil Code.”

On rehearing the Supreme Court of California said:

“PER CURIAM. The application for a hearing in this court after decision in the District Court of Appeal of the Third Appellate District is denied.

In denying the application, we deem it proper to say that we are not prepared to hold that subdivision 6 of section 1624 of the Civil Code is not applicable in the case of a simple contract between a real estate agent or broker and a proposed purchaser to obtain an option for the purchase of real estate by the purchaser. The opinion clearly shows that this was in substance a joint venture on the part of plaintiff and defendant for the sale of real property of a third party and the distribution of the profits between them. The District Court of Appeal was clearly right in concluding that subdivision 6 of section 1624 of the Civil Code does not extend to agreements between brokers to co-operate in making sales for the sake of the commission or profits and that this was substantially such a case.”

In *Arbuckel v. Clifford F. Reid, Inc.*, 118 Cal. App. 272, 4, P. 2nd 978, the defendant corporation was a company engaged in the business of subdividing and improving tracts of real estate in the county of Los Angeles and employed two hundred salesmen for selling the properties subdivided. The defendant

employed the plaintiff as director of sales and manager of real estate salesmen and agreed to pay plaintiff for his service a certain sum based on commissions received from sales concluded by the salesmen of the corporation. The Court, in regard to the employment contract, stated:

“This contract, as we view it, is not the kind of contract or agreement to which reference is made by said section 1624. It contains no authorization to respondent to either purchase or sell the property of appellant, but, on the contrary, simply makes him the business manager of appellant for the purpose of aiding and assisting its salesman in disposing of its lands. As was said in the case of *Pettibone v. Lake View Town Co.*, 134 Cal. 227, 66 P. 218, 219, in holding that said section 1624 had no application, ‘The contract here involved is for the personal services of the plaintiff,’ and so in the case at bar the compensation or commission agreed to be paid was in lieu of salary or wages for the personal services to be performed by respondent.”

The Utah case of *Andersen v. Johnson*, 108 Utah 417, 160 P. 2nd 725 involved an action between a real estate broker and his agent. In that case, the defendant employed the plaintiff to obtain listings on property in Box Elder County and defendant agreed that in the event any of the land caused to be listed by plaintiff with defendant was sold the defendant would pay plaintiff one-third of the commission realized. The court held that the contract

was one of employment and did not involve any right or interest in land. The court stated that:

“The contention of respondent that plaintiff cannot recover because his agreement was oral is untenable. The contract was one of employment and not involving any right or interest in land. See *Johnson v. Allen*, Utah 1945, 158 P. 2d 134. The proposition that a contract for fee or commission may be recovered by agent from broker though not in writing is upheld in *Arbuckle v. Clifford F. Reid, Inc.*, 1931. 118 Cal. App. 272, 4 P. 2d 978;”

Having considered certain employment agreements and relationships not contemplated by the statute of frauds, consideration is now given to agreements and relationships various courts hold to be within the statute. In appellant's brief at page 20 the following statement appears:

“Thus it appears that specific employment to purchase or sell or to bind the principal is a necessary part of the employment of a broker in order to comply with the statute of frauds. Conversely, if the employment does not authorize the purchase or sale and does not authorize the agent to bind the principal there is no employment for the purchase or sale of real estate and the statute of frauds is not applicable at all.”

We cannot agree with appellant's position. The statute of frauds pertaining to brokers does not contemplate a situation where a broker is authorized to execute a conveyance of real property for a

seller or enter into a written contract binding his principal to purchase real property. Rather, the statute contemplates the employment of a broker to render services in connection with the procurement by a broker of a bound seller or purchaser of real property. The Supreme Court of California, in the case of *Shanklin v. Hall*, 100 Cal. 26, 34 Pac. 636, commenting on a statute similar to our own stated:

“ . . . Among the contracts declared invalid, if not in writing, etc., by section 1624 of the Civil Code is: “6. An agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation or a commission.” The contract set out in the complaint is embraced in the findings of the court which we have quoted, and it appears to possess all the elements essential to bring it within the purview of the statute. It is not necessary in the sense of the statute that he should have been authorized to execute a conveyance of defendant’s real property. Bouv. Law Dict. “The duty assumed by a broker is to bring the minds of the buyer and seller to an agreement for a sale, and the price and terms on which it is to be made.” . . . ”

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah in *Baugh v. Darley*, 112 Utah 1, 184 P. 2d 335, said in reference to our statute:

“ . . . It is different with the statute on broker’s agreements. It provides that any agreement for the performance of services as a real estate broker shall be void unless in writing. The statute is as applicable to contracts implied in law as any other. In effect

it forbids any recovery for services in selling land which are are not provided for by written agreement. See also Page on the Law of Contracts, Sec. 1413."

The purpose of our statute of frauds relating to broker agreements is to require a written contract of employment between a broker and a purchaser or seller of real property. Where a principal wishes to sell real property it is not necessary that the land the principal desires the broker to sell be described with particularity. This issue was raised and decided in *Johnson v. Allen*, 108 Utah 148, 158 P. 2nd 134. In that case the defendant alleged that the listing agreement did not contain an adequate description of real property. In answering this contention, the court said:

"Sec. 33—5—4 (5), U.C.A. 1943, expressly provides that "Every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation" shall be void unless some "note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged." The construction of this section as to the sufficiency of a description of the real estate is apparently a matter of first impression in this state. The section is almost identical to Sec. 1624(6) of the California Civil Code. In an early case the Supreme Court of California in construing this provision noted that its chief element was the employment. *Toomy v. Dunphy*, 86 Cal. 639, 25 P. 130. The provision has subsequently been before the California courts many times. Many of the cases are cited in *Pray v.*

Anthony, 96 Cal. App. 772, 274 P. 1024, 1026, wherein the court noted that; "As uniformly held by numerous decisions in this state upon the subject, the essential part of a contract to employ a real estate broker, so far as the statute of frauds is concerned, is the matter of the employment and consequently need not describe the land specifically if the terms of the employment can be made definite without it. The description of the land and its identity are only incidental to the main purpose of the contract, and, since contracts of that nature do not purport to involve the title or right of possession of land, much greater liberality is allowed in construing and curing defective descriptions therein than in cases of executory contracts to convey land or in deeds of grant, for, as stated, so far as the statute of frauds is concerned, the terms of the employment are the essential parts. The well-established rule is, therefore, that broker's contracts are not to be declared void merely because of a defect, uncertainty or ambiguity in the description of the property to be sold, when such defect can be cured by allagations and proof of extrinsic facts or circumstances." This doctrine was approved by the Supreme Court in *Needham v. Abbot Kinney Co.*, 217 Cal. 72, 17 P. 2d 109."

In many situations a purchaser employing a broker does not know exactly what property he wishes to purchase and consequently a property description could not be included in an employment contract, nor does the statute require a land description.

The statute of frauds relating to brokers agree-

ments deals with an employment contract as stated in *Johnson v. Allen*; supra.

“The contention that the contract was void because of the fact that the wife, who under Idaho community property law was a part owner of the land, did not sign the contract is based on a statute relating solely to transfers or contracts to transfer an interest in the land itself. This was a contract of employment and did not purport to convey an interest in land. The defendant, by this contract, employed the plaintiff to find a purchaser for certain lands. When plaintiff did the work he was entitled to the commission agreed upon whether the land was sold or not, whether defendant owned the land or not. No case has been cited and we have found none holding that such a listing contract is void unless signed by the wife. The Utah Statute of Frauds does not require that such a contract be signed by the “owner” of the lands listed, but only that it be signed “by the party to be charged.” Defendant employed plaintiff to do certain work by a valid written contract. Plaintiff did the work and is entitled to the agreed compensation.”

The Utah case of *Case v. Ralph*, 56 Utah 243, 188 P. 2nd 640, sets forth the type of service contemplated by the statute and the terms and conditions required to be in writing:

“The courts generally hold that under such a statute a real estate broker or agent cannot recover commission for services rendered in either selling or procuring a purchaser for real property unless it appears: (1) That there is an express contract or

agreement of authority in which the terms and conditions of his employment, if any, and the amount of his commission, etc., are stated; (2) that such contract be in writing; (3) that in the absence of such an express contract no recovery can be had for the reasonable value of the services rendered as upon a quantum meruit, nor for the money and time expended for the use and benefit of the owner of the property.' ”

We wish to emphasize that a real estate broker in order to recover compensation for services rendered in procuring a seller of real property, must produce a written agreement setting forth the terms and conditions of his employment and the amount of his compensation, not the terms and conditions of his authority to bind his principal.

Having considered that the function of a broker is primarily to bring about a purchase or sale of real property by bringing a purchaser and seller to an agreement regarding an exchange or sale of real property and having discussed cases indicating that such an employment contract must be in writing, let us next consider the meaning of the statutory term “purchase or sale”. Several California cases have construed this term. In *Duckworth v. Schumacher*, 135 Cal. App. 661, 27 P. 2nd 919, according to the complaint, the plaintiff was to assist and aid the defendant in laying out for subdivision and subdividing for sale certain lands of the defendant and to act as defendant's general sales manager in

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